Public Document Pack

CITY
LONDON

Port Health & Environmental Services Committee

Date: TUESDAY, 7 OCTOBER 2025
Time: 11.00 am
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL
Members: Deputy Peter Dunphy (Chairman) Helen Ladele
George Abrahams (Deputy Gregory Lawrence
Chairman) Antony Manchester
Deputy Christopher Boden Vasiliki Manta
Leyla Boulton Deborah Oliver
Deputy Timothy Butcher Fraser Peck
Simon Burrows Deputy Henry Pollard
Simon Duckworth OBE DL Jason Pritchard
Deputy John Edwards Sushil Saluja
John Foley Hugh Selka
Dawn Frampton Dr Giles Shilson
Deputy Marianne Fredericks Alethea Silk
Mercy Haggerty Stuart Thompson
Deputy Caroline Haines Mandeep Thandi
Deputy Jaspreet Hodgson Alderman Kawsar Zaman

Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney

Enquiries:  Rhys Campbell
rhys.campbell@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Accessing the virtual public meeting:
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London
Corporation by following the below link:

https://www.youtube.com/@ CityofLondonCorporation/streams

A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the

City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the

proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material.

Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded
following the end of the meeting.

lan Thomas CBE
Town Clerk and Chief Executive



https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams

AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

APOLOGIES

MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

MINUTES

To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the previous meeting held on
22 July 2025 as a correct record.

For Decision
(Pages 5 - 10)

APPOINTMENTS TO SUB-COMMITTEES AND REPRESENTATIVES TO OUTSIDE
BODIES

Town Clerk to be heard.

For Decision

PUBLIC CONVENIENCE PROVISION

Report of the Executive Director, Environment.

For Information
(Pages 11 - 28)

QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT



10.

11.

12.

13.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

MOTION — That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part | of the Schedule 12A of
the Local Government Act.

Part 2 - Non-public Agenda

NON-PUBLIC MINUTES

To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2025 as a correct
record.

For Decision
(Pages 29 - 32)

PORT HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES DEBTORS - PERIOD ENDING
30 JUNE 2025

Report of the Executive Director, Environment.

For Information
(Pages 33 - 42)

SUPERINTENDENT’S HOUSE, CEMETERY & CREMATORIUM

Joint report of the Executive Director, Environment and City Surveyor.

For Decision
(Pages 43 - 76)

NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE
COMMITTEE

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERED URGENT AND
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

PORT HEALTH & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 22 July 2025

Minutes of the meeting of the Port Health & Environmental Services Committee
held at the Guildhall EC2 at 11.00 am

Present

Members:

Deputy Peter Dunphy (Chairman)
George Abrahams (Deputy Chairman)
Deputy Timothy Butcher

Simon Burrows

Deputy John Edwards

John Foley
Dawn Frampton

Deputy Marianne Fredericks

Mercy Haggerty

Deputy Jaspreet Hodgson
Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney

Officers:
Jenny Pitcairn

Frank Marchione
Rachel Pye

lan Hughes

Katie Stewart
Joanne Hill
Alexander Anrude
Joanne Purkiss
Steve Playle
Graham Holmes
Susie Pritchard

Ellie Robles
Joanna Leyden
Thomas Hodgkiss
Joseph Smith
Joe Kingston
Blair Stringman

1. APOLOGIES

Helen Ladele
Antony Manchester
Vasiliki Manta
Deborah Oliver
Fraser Peck

Deputy Henry Pollard
Jason Pritchard

Sushil Saluja

Stuart Thompson
Alderman Kawsar Zaman

Chamberlain's Department

Principal Lawyer

Environment Department

Environment

Executive Director, Environment
Environment Department
Environment Department
Environment Department
Environment Department
Environment Department
Environment Department

Chamberlain’s

Environment Department

City Surveyor’'s

Corporate Strategy & Performance
Environment Department
Town Clerk’s Department

Apologies for absence were received from Deputy Caroline Haines, Deputy
Christopher Boden and Hugh Selka.

Page 5



MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA
There were no declarations.

MINUTES

RESOLVED - That, subject to a correction concerning Deputy Marianne
Fredericks appointment to Thames21, the minutes of the meeting held on 2
June 2025 be agreed as a correct record.

APPOINTMENTS TO SUB-COMMITTEES AND REPRESENTATIVES TO
OUTSIDE BODIES

The Committee heard the Town Clerk concerning the various appointments that
were outstanding from the last Committee meeting.

RESOLVED — That Members,

a) Appoint Mercy Haggerty to the Local Plans Sub-Committee

b) Appoint Deputy Timothy Butcher to the Projects & Procurement Sub-
Committee

c) Appoint a Member to the Cross River Partnership at its next meeting

d) Confirmed Deputy Marianne Fredericks appointment to Thames21

e) Appoint the Deputy Chairman, George Abrahams, to the Crime & Disorder
Scrutiny Committee

REVENUE OUTTURN 2024/25

The Committee received a joint report of The Chamberlain and Executive
Director, Environment concerning the revenue outturn for the services overseen
by the Committee in 2024/25 with the budget for the year.

The Committee noted an overall overspend of £2.605 million. Of this, £1.27
million was under the Executive Director of Environment’s local risk budget.
This included a £246,000 operational underspend and a reduced drawdown
from reserves, which contributed to the overspend. Remaining overspends
were due to recharges offset by Finance Committee underspends.

Questions were raised on waste income (from Veolia), third-party waste
disposal (sent to Belvedere), and cemetery income, which varies based on the
type of grave purchased. Public convenience overspends were due to business
rates on mothballed facilities, no longer exempt. A detailed report on this will
follow in October.

Clarification was given on capital overspends being technical accounting
entries with no cash impact. Grave vault construction costs are being recovered
through sales, with strong early uptake.

RESOLVED - That, the report be noted.

TRADING STANDARDS TEAM UPDATE

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment
concerning an update from the Trading Standards Team.

Page 6



Members were provided an overview of the team’s work over the past six
months. Officers highlighted several key initiatives:

o Operation Broadway: This initiative targets investment fraud and
involves collaboration with agencies such as the City of London Police,
the Financial Conduct Authority, HMRC, and others. Meetings are held
fortnightly, and the relationship with the City of London Police is strong,
with officers now seeking advice from Trading Standards. The team uses
its powers of entry to disrupt fraudulent operations, particularly boiler
rooms targeting vulnerable consumers. A current trend in investment
fraud involves the sale of art.

e« Vape Legislation Enforcement: Following the single-use vape ban
effective from 1 June, the team has conducted inspections across the
city. While most traders comply, some illegal products have been found
and dealt with. Upcoming legislation will ban child-appealing flavours
and designs and introduce a licensing regime for premises selling
tobacco and vapes.

e Online Platform Monitoring: The team has been active in monitoring
third-party sellers on platforms such as Temu, TikTok, and Amazon.
Issues have arisen around product safety, especially concerning
cosmetics, electrical goods, toys, and PPE. Many businesses involved
are based in the city. Current legislation is inadequate, but a bill is
progressing through Parliament. The team is working with the Office of
Product Safety and Standards to advocate for consumer protection.

The Chairman asked about contraband tobacco and cigarettes being sold
through fronts such as barber shops. Officers responded that while this is a
known issue elsewhere, it has not been prevalent in the City of London.
Previous operations using sniffer dogs have not uncovered such activity, likely
due to the unigue nature of the city.

A Member thanked the team for their report, noting their effectiveness despite
being small in size. They raised concerns about scam texts targeting vulnerable
individuals, particularly regarding winter fuel payments. They asked whether the
department issues warnings on the city’s website. Officers acknowledged the
importance of this and mentioned the national scams team’s efforts. They
agreed that further collaboration with the communications team could enhance
public awareness.

A Member raised two issues:

e Snus Products: These nicotine patches have reportedly caused harm to
children. They asked whether Trading Standards could take action. Officers
replied that inspections are conducted quarterly with experts from Hackney
Trading Standards. Snus products have not been found in the city, possibly due
to the lack of nearby educational establishments. The team remains vigilant
during inspections.

e Food Hygiene Ratings: They also questioned why establishments are not
legally required to display their ratings. Officers explained that while it is not
mandatory, the team is lobbying the Food Standards Agency (FSA) to change
this. A recent survey conducted by a Trading Standards apprentice has been

Page 7



submitted to the FSA as evidence. The issue is being raised with London food
groups to push for mandatory display across the UK.

The Chairman agreed that the lack of mandatory display is problematic,
allowing substandard establishments to avoid scrutiny.

RESOLVED - That, the report be noted.

AIR QUALITY ANNUAL STATUS REPORT FOR 2024
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment
concerning the Air Quality Annual Status Report for 2024.

The following points were noted:

Engine Idling Concerns: A Member raised concerns about idling
engines near hotels, particularly affecting residents at night. Officers
acknowledged the issue and explained that while 24/7 enforcement is
limited, Street Environment Officers (SEOs) are trained to engage
directly with drivers and businesses.

Beech Street Pollution Levels: A Member highlighted that although
pollution levels have decreased, Beech Street still shows high readings.
Officers clarified that while national targets are met, the City aims to
align with stricter WHO guidelines. The Committee also noted the need
for better promotion of the new air quality web tool at the Barbican
Library.

Idling Enforcement and Signage: A Member suggested improved
coordination of road closures, clearer signage for idling offences, and
reviewing enforcement incentives. Officers responded that while
enforcement is challenging, efforts are ongoing to improve engagement
and signage visibility. Temporary signage campaigns, such as those
used outside Guildhall, were cited as effective.

Monitoring and Short-Term Spikes: A Member commended
improvements near Aldgate School and requested targeted monitoring in
other areas like Mansell Street. Officers confirmed that monitoring
locations are reviewed annually and explained the difference between
high-resolution and monthly average monitoring. They noted that short-
term spikes are considered when planning mitigation.

Red Routes and Public Realm Impact: A Member queried the City’s
influence over pollution on TfL-managed red routes and the impact of
public realm schemes like Old Bailey. Officers confirmed ongoing
dialogue with TfL and that before-and-after monitoring is in place for
such projects. They also addressed concerns about tube vent emissions,
noting that recent monitoring did not detect significant particulate matter.
Air Quality Targets and Indoor Monitoring: Officers stated that the
City aims to reduce nitrogen dioxide levels to 30 pug/m3 by 2030, below
the national standard of 40 pg/m3. In response to A Members question,
Officers outlined a joint project with Hackney to educate residents on
indoor air quality, focusing on everyday activities that may contribute to
indoor pollution.

Page 8



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

e Community Heating Potential: A Member briefly mentioned the
potential of using underground air shafts for communal heating,
referencing past exploration in Gibson Square and the ongoing fossil fuel
use in the Citigen project.

RESOLVED - That, the report be noted.

QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE
COMMITTEE
There were no questions.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT
There was no urgent business.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED - That, under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part |
of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
RESOLVED - That, the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 2 June 2025
be agreed as a correct record.

DISPOSAL OF FORMER PORT HEALTH DOCK OFFICES AT TILBURY
DOCKS

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director, Environment in
relation to the disposal of the former Port Health Dock Offices at Tilbury Docks.

EXTENSION OF WASTE COLLECTION, STREET CLEANSING AND
ANCILLARY SERVICES CONTRACT

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment in
relation to the extension of waste collection, street cleansing and ancillary
services contract.

CONTINUATION OF WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICE CONTRACT
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment
concerning continuation of waste management service contract, Cory.

NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF
THE COMMITTEE
There were no non-public questions.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERED URGENT
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED

There was no urgent business.

Page 9



The meeting closed at 12.07 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Blair Stringman
Blair.Stringman@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 10



Agenda Iltem 5

Committee(s):
Porth Health and Environmental Services Committee

Dated:
07/10/2025

Subject:
Public Convenience Provision

Public report:

For Information

This proposal:
e delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes

Providing excellent services
Vibrant thriving destination
Flourishing public spaces

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or No
capital spending?

If so, how much? N/A
What is the source of Funding? N/A
Has this Funding Source been agreed with the N/A

Chamberlain’s Department?

Report of: Katie Stewart

Report author: Joe Kingston

Summary

This report outlines the current provision of toilets within the City of London and the
measures which have been undertaken in the past year to improve wayfinding to
facilities, tackle anti-social behaviour, undertake refurbishment of existing facilities
and efforts to secure further public toilet provision going forward.

There has been significant progress in all of these areas which builds on the public
and private sector provision that allows members of the public to access facilities

throughout the City as various times of the night and day.

Due to the current financial position of City Fund, this has all been delivered within
existing local risk budgets and previously identified funds (such as the Cyclical

Works Programme).

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to note the report.

Page 11




Main Report

Background

1.

This Committee received a report in July 2024 which outlined how the current
provision of public conveniences in the City of London is delivered as a
partnership between the City of London Corporation and other public and private
sector organisations. There is a total of 19 facilities available, spread across the
Square Mile helping to address a diverse set of needs and requirements.

The two staffed facilities operated by the City Corporation remain at the City’s two
principal tourist attractions at Paternoster Square (for St Paul’s Cathedral) and
Tower Hill (for the Tower of London). The remaining 17 are spread across
transport hubs, car parks, libraries and retail centres that are accessible to the
public.

In addition, the City Corporation has a well-established Community Toilets
Scheme where typically, smaller businesses offer their facilities to the public, with
69 such businesses currently signed up.

The provision of public conveniences is not a statutory function that local
authorities are required to provide, and as such has come under severe funding
pressures in the past. Indeed, this Committee has specifically pursued a
partnership approach with the private sector over the last 10+ years in order to
provide a more financially sustainable approach to their provision. This approach
has enabled the Corporation to close those facilities with the lowest usage
thereby prioritising provision of those in highest demand.

The current financial position for City Fund where these costs are funded from is
no less challenging with an expectation to fall into a deficit over the medium term.
During last year's budget setting process, Finance Committee advised a focus on
developing savings plans through a staged approach.

At the same time, the full implications of the government’s Fair Funding Review
2.0 are yet to be fully established but will see the Corporation lose the business
rate growth income generated over previous years which is to be redistributed
alongside other grants using a national formula.

Bearing in mind the wider financial constraints in which the Corporation is
operating, Members agreed at the last report for Officers to proceed with several
actions within currently agreed budgets that could maximise the effectiveness of
existing toilet provision across the Square Mile. These actions were:

a. Review and enhance the publicity and signage for the City Corporation’s
public toilets at all locations

b. Refurbish the toilet facilities within the City Corporation’s car parks

c. ldentify potential locations for additional Urilifts

d. Explore opportunities for a limited reopening of the public toilets at
Blackfriars (after the completion of the Tideway project)

Page 12



e. Review the benefits, promotion and funding of the Community Toilets
Scheme

f. Press for further private sector provision of public toilets through the
planning process

g. Continue efforts to reduce the impacts of anti-social behaviour

h. Explore additional funding opportunities to reinvest into the provision and
maintenance of public toilets

8. An update on these actions is expanded further in this report.

Current Position
Review and Enhance Publicity and Signage

9. Effective wayfinding for public conveniences provided across the City was
highlighted in the last report as essential, and since that last report officers have
progressed with several ways to improve our on-street signage, digital
information and physical handouts.

10.In terms of on-street signage, officers have identified an opportunity to refresh
230 Legible London signs across the City so that they display details of the
nearest public convenience. This project is currently being planned in conjunction
with colleagues from Transport & Public Realm and funding has just been
approved by Streets & Walkways Sub Committee, enabling the changes to be
delivered between October 2025 and July 2026.

11.Having up to date information on toilet locations and opening hours available
online is essential. The City Corporation provide this information on our website
in the form of an online map which can be found here. The map shows all toilets
which are open and available to the public as well as all members of the
Community Toilet Scheme. Opening hours and accessibility information is also
included. This data is available as open-source data and can be and is pulled into
various apps and websites which provide details of public toilet provision across
London and the UK.

12. Officers have explored the possibility of adding public and community toilets to
Google Maps main interface to improve visibility and accessibility for residents
and visitors. However, this has proven challenging due to Google’s data
management structure, which prioritises verified business premises and restricts
the direct addition of non-commercial facilities through standard channels. As
such, public conveniences do not easily meet the platform’s criteria for location
listing and visibility. Officers will continue to work closely with colleagues in the
GIS team to investigate alternative methods of improving public toilet mapping,
including the potential integration of local data layers or extending the use of
third-party platforms, and will explore all viable options to ensure accurate and
accessible public information.

13. Although digital maps and apps are important, some visitors and members of the
public prefer physical maps. Officers have therefore produced paper maps which

Page 13


https://www.mapping.cityoflondon.gov.uk/geocortex/mapping/?viewer=compass&runworkflowbyid=Switch_layer_themes&LayerTheme=Show%20the%20Toilets%20layers

are available at the City Information Centre, City Libraries and the Guildhall.
These also contain a QR code which links to the online maps.

14.The public have always been able to access the toilets within the Guildhall and at
other City Corporation sites, but this has not been obvious from the outside.
Signage has now been installed at the Guildhall North and West Wing entrances
as well as the London Centre and the Art Gallery. Photographs of the signage
can be found in Appendix 2.

15. As part of the renegotiation for the lease of One New Change, officers working to
support Destination City objectives have stipulated that improved signage,
directing members of the public more easily to the public conveniences is
implemented as a condition of their lease extension.

Refurbishment of Car Park Toilet Facilities

16.The City Corporation’s car parks are open 24 hours a day, seven days a week,
as are the toilets located within them. Projects are currently being undertaken by
City Surveyors to refresh the facilities at Baynard House and London Wall car
parks which are scheduled to be completed by November 2025. Works at
Minories Car Park have recently been approved by Planning & Transportation
Committee and Resource Allocation Sub Committee with the project due to
commence shortly.

17.1n addition to the refurbishment work, new signage has been installed at the sites
to make it easier for members of the public to find the facilities. Images of these
can be found in Appendix 3.

18. Officers have been working with the City Surveyors Dept since the start of 2025
to undertake a total refurbishment of Tower Hill toilets which are linked to the car
park at the same location. Tower Hill toilets were last refurbished in 2005 and the
works taking place now will ensure they are fit for purpose and ready for the next
20 years.

19.The refurbishment presented the opportunity to improve the facilities provided by
adding a Changing Places toilet which are larger than standard accessible toilets
with additional facilities such as hoist and shower with space for a carer. This is a
welcomed facility which will enable those who have previously found a shortage
of appropriate toilet facilities a barrier to visiting the City.

20. Guidance from The Worshipful Company of Spectacle Makers also fed into the
design process to make the facilities more accessible for individuals with visual
impairment. This has involved more suitable colour schemes as well as
highlighted areas and contrasting coloured seat bowls.

21.Works began last month with the female side being partitioned into male and

female areas, allowing for toilets to remain open whilst works are undertaken to
the male facilities. Once completed, the male facilities will be partitioned to allow

Page 14



for works to the ladies. All works are due to be finished by Easter 2026 with a
total budget cost for the project being £935,000.

Identify potential locations for additional Urilifts

22.Officers undertook an exercise in early 2025 which identified 30 potential
locations for Urilift units; ground radar surveys were subsequently conducted at
these sites. However, due to subterranean infrastructure none of the locations
had sufficient space to accommodate the size of unit required.

23.1n July 2025 the City Corporation received advice from the Health and Safety
Executive (HSE) that, following an investigation into a tragic incident in
Westminster, they strongly advised the Urilifts that we operate were removed
from service until further notice.

24.The decision to remove the Urilifts from service was taken on the day which the
notice from the HSE was received. The maintenance contract was also
terminated as the units could not be safely serviced.

25. Officers are currently investigating alternatives for the festive period.

Explore a limited reopening of the public toilets at Blackfriars after Tideway

26.Public toilets on the Embankment in the structure beneath Blackfriars Bridge
were demolished in 2015 as part of the Tideway project for London’s ‘super
sewer’. However, Thames Water are under an obligation to re-provide those
facilities at the completion of the scheme later this year, and to that end officers
have been working with Tideway to ensure the facilities are re-provided to a
suitable standard with the equipment in line with the other two attended facilities
in the City of London.

27.Given the financial constraints outlined in the background section of the report,
the affordability of reopening these facilities for continuous public use is not
budgeted for and if provided in line with the other staffed facilities would cost
approx. £127,000 pa plus overheads. Income derived from usage to offset this
cost is difficult to estimate but is unlikely to exceed £20,000 pa, making their full
time reopening uneconomic and, given the financial constraints outlined
previously, unaffordable.

28. A limited reopening regime for major events such as London Marathon, Lord
Mayor’s Show and New Year’s Eve is an affordable option which officers will look
to pursue.

29.There is a small building located in the public space which is likely to provide
refreshments, so working collaboratively with that potential retail unit to facilitate
the opening and cleaning of the toilets may be an option. However, these
discussions will not be possible until the site is let by Thames Water and the retail

Page 15



provision is in place.

30.1n addition, the City Surveyors are exploring a range of commercial options for
the under croft at this location which could require or enable on-site toilet
provision. Should a viable commercial scheme proceed, there could be the
opportunity to use any net income to offset toilet running costs albeit subject to an
affordable business case.

Review the benefits, promotion and funding of the Community Toilets Scheme

31.The City Corporation established a Community Toilet Scheme (CTS) in 2009 to
help increase the amount of toilet provision in the City. It began with an initial
target of 50 participants but well exceeded that target and currently has 69
member premises, the majority of which are open in the evening. The opening
hours of the toilets are based on hours of trading/opening, and members of the
public are not charged should they use the facilities. Maps showing the spread of
sites and their availability at various times of the day can be found in Appendix 4.

32.Locations are available to find on the City Corporation’s website, which is also
pulled through to various apps. Premises are identified by a sticker displayed in
their window, but following feedback at previous PHES committee meetings,
larger A4 sized stickers have been produced for this use. All the premises within
the scheme have since been visited and the larger stickers are now in place.

33.The sites are audited at least twice a year so this will ensure they continue to
display the correct signage. These audits also allow officers to confirm that staff
are aware of the scheme and that the toilets are maintained to an acceptable
standard.

34.1In return for offering their facilities to passers-by, the businesses can claim up to
£600 pa for additional expenses, although not all do. Based on the claims made
by existing scheme members, the City Corporation’s current budget allocation is
sufficient at £40,000 pa.

35. 1t is acknowledged that it can be challenging to publicise these premises and that
monitoring usage by those not already there is difficult, but their availability is still
seen as an important part of the wider provision of public toilets, especially at
times when the City Corporation’s attended toilets are not open. They also act as
a reminder to the hospitality and entertainment trade that they can support the
public at large in providing such welcome facilities in partnership with the City
Corporation.

Press for further private sector provision of public toilets through Planning
36. Officers have been working closely with Planning colleagues to identify

appropriate levers in the planning process to increase public toilet provision
throughout the City of London.

Page 16



37.

38.

39.

In City Plan 2040, in the Health, Inclusion and Safety chapter policy “HL6 Public
Toilets” promotes a widespread distribution of publicly accessible toilets which
meet public demand, including for Changing Places toilets, 24-hour provision and
support for an increase in membership to the Community Toilet Scheme.

As part of this, the City will seek to require major developments to provide
publicly accessible toilets going forward, plus in the Culture & Visitors chapter,
policy CV3 aims to meet the needs of visitors in new cultural developments by
encouraging well-designed public convenience provision, including Changing
Places toilets that are accessible to all users. An example of this will be the
Museum of London which will have public toilet provision.

Appendix 5 contains details of the five recent schemes which have been resolved
to grant by Planning Application Sub Committee that contain provision for public
and Changing Places toilets. It should be noted that whilst these developments
have been given resolution to grant subject to entering into an accompanying
Section 106 legal agreement before planning permission is issued, there isn't a
guarantee that they will necessarily come forward and the timelines included in
the appendix are indicative only.

Addressing Anti-Social Behaviour

40.

41.

42.

43.

Officers have regular meetings with the City of London Police (CoLP),
Community Safety team and Parkguard, with any areas subject to specific issues
of public urination referred to either CoLP or Parkguard for monitoring and/or
enforcement. As a result, between September 2023 and August 2025, 17 fixed
penalty notices were issued for instances of public urination.

In addition, the Cleansing Service is currently working on a high-profile initiative
aimed at reducing public urination associated with the nighttime economy in the
Square Mile. This campaign (provisionally called “Go before you go”) focuses on
intervening at a critical moment by encouraging patrons to use the toilets in pubs
and bars before leaving, rather than relying on signage in less effective locations.

To ensure the success of this campaign, Officers are liaising with licensed
premises, the CoLP, and other stakeholders. The strategy will include distributing
posters and cardboard cutouts to local venues, supported by on-street activations
such as bollard covers. The campaign's effectiveness will be evaluated through
external coverage, social engagement, and inspections of known anti-social
behaviour hotspots.

As part of a further on-street intervention officers have undertaken a small project
at a secluded corner on Fann Street, partly screened by foliage from the nearby
wildlife garden, which had become a regular hotspot for public urination. The
location was particularly problematic as gaps in an adjoining fence allowed urine
to enter the yard of an adjacent residential facility, creating both nuisance and

Page 17



distress for residents.

44.In response, officers worked with The Shakespeare pub, located just 20 metres
away and already a member of the Community Toilet Scheme, to provide a
practical alternative for those in need. Customised glow-in-the-dark signage was
installed at the hotspot, both warning of fines for public urination and clearly
directing people towards the pub’s facilities. In addition, a large planter was
repositioned in the corner to make the area more visible from the street and
reduce the sense of seclusion that had made it attractive for misuse, while
keeping the footway clear.

45. Anecdotal feedback suggests that these measures have reduced the problem,
though not eliminated it completely. Officers are now exploring the introduction of
larger planters to reinforce this success and further deter inappropriate use of the
site.

Explore additional funding opportunities

46.In 2024/25 the cost to the Environment Department’s local risk budget of
providing the City’s two attended public toilets was £645,000. This cost included
utilities, rates, supplies, consumables and staffing costs. This cost was offset by
income generated from entry to the sites totalling £253,000, for a net cost to the
Environment Department of £392,000. Overheads and maintenance costs of
£164,000 bring the overall cost to the City Corporation to £556,000.

47.Two facilities at Eastcheap and Royal Exchange / Bank Station were closed in
2020 as they were uneconomic to operate. In terms of the future of the facility at
Eastcheap, it lies beneath the Eastcheap / Gracechurch St/ Cannon St junction
and TfL have expressed a strong interest in acquiring them to enable the
redesign of that junction. The scheme will aim to considerably improve pedestrian
facilities and road safety at that difficult junction and design work is currently
being completed by TfL before public consultation in 2026.

48.In terms of the facilities at Royal Exchange (Bank Underground exit), officers and
Members (including the Chair of Policy & Resources Committee) explored the
possibility of TfL taking on the management of those facilities as part of a wider
initiative by the Mayor of London and TfL to increase toilet provision on the
Underground network. However, TfL chose instead to focus on provision within
the gate line with users of Bank station now able to benefit from toilets being
made available at the new exit onto Cannon Street.

49. Current refurbishment works being undertaken at Tower Hill which are being
funded by the Cyclical Works Programme are costing £935,000 and indicate the
level of refurbishment work that could be required given the length of time that
facility has been closed. TfL suggested a similar amount of capital funding would
be required to bring Royal Exchange back into operation which is well beyond the
City Fund budgets currently available. In addition, the local risk revenue cost of
staffing and operating that facility would likely be in the region of £127,000 pa set
against a likely income of £14,000 based on pre-pandemic usage levels. The net

Page 18



50.

operating cost would therefore be an estimated £113,000 pa plus overheads,
meaning its return into operation continues to be unaffordable from both a capital
and revenue cost perspective.

In terms of alternative funding sources, officers have investigated the scope of
both Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding and the On Street Parking
Reserve (OSPR), but funds have strict criteria and although capital funding for
the refurbishment of facilities may qualify for CIL funding, revenue funding for the
operating of public conveniences would not. One other opportunity could be
through the BID network and officers will seek to raise this through the service
review panel process which is being proposed as part of a refreshed governance
arrangement between the City and the BIDs going forward.

Corporate & Strategic Implications

Strategic implications

51.Provision of public toilets is understood to be important in delivering on the

ambitions of Destination City and the corporate plan outcomes of providing
excellent services, a vibrant thriving destination and flourishing public spaces.

Financial implications

52.As noted above, the net operating cost of the City’s two staffed public

conveniences was £556,000 in 2024/25.

53.This net costs represents a gross running cost of £809,000 less the £253,000

income received from the entrance fee. The current entrance fee of 50p was
introduced over ten years ago to help offset the costs to the Corporation of
running these facilities and it has not changed since. Other providers such as
Network Rail are able to offer their toilets free of charge because they can absorb
their resource costs within a wider facility, but the City Corporation is not able to
do this, meaning that charging a fee is an essential part of the operating model
for these facilities.

54.Despite rising costs, the City’s fee has not changed in that time for two main

reasons, namely to keep them affordable for users but also to continue to enable
single-coin transactions (for instance, moving from 50p to 60p would require at
least two coins as opposed to the one coin required for a 50p entry).

55.Payment can be made by both cash and card at both facilities and despite

cashless payment being offered for some time, a considerable number of
transactions remain with coins.

56.There is no minimum or maximum amount that a local authority can levy as a fee.

In terms of benchmarking, Islington and Kensington & Chelsea provide their

Page 19



facilities free of charge, whilst Westminster charge between 50p and 80p
dependent on the facilities. Some privately owned locations in London such as
Camden Market and Covent Garden charge £1 to £1.50.

57.Considering the City’s wider budget pressures set out in the Medium-Term
Financial Plan (MTFP), there will be increasing pressure to reduce the net cost of
all services delivered by the Corporation, and as such officers expect to have to
continue to keep the net cost of running these facilities under review.

Legal implications

58. Provision of Public Conveniences is not a statutory service which Local Authorities are
required to provide.

Equalities implications

59. Any addition or removal of public conveniences could have equalities implications and a
test of relevance would be undertaken if this were to happen.

Risk implications — None

Resource implications — None

Climate implications — None

Security implications — None

Conclusion

60. Members are asked to note the report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Toilet Provision in the City of London
Appendix 2 — Installed signage at City of London Sites
Appendix 3 — Installed signage at City of London Car Parks
Appendix 4 — Community Toilet Scheme Provision

Appendix 5 - Recent schemes with resolution to grant from Planning Application Sub
Committee

Background Papers

PHES Committee July 2024 — Public Convenience Provision

Joe Kingston
Assistant Director — Gardens and Cleansing

E: joe.kingston@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 20


mailto:joe.kingston@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Appendix 1 — Toilet Provision in the City of
London

Type Location Daytime [Evening

Attended Public Conveniences ([Tower Hill

Paternoster Square

City Corporation Buildings Guildhall North Wing

Guildhall West Wing

Guildhall Art Gallery

Barbican Centre

Shoe Lane Library

Artizan St Library

London Centre

City Corporation Car Parks Minories

London Wall

Baynard House

Network Rail stations Liverpool St

Blackfriars

Fenchurch St

Cannon St

Retail One New Change

Broadgate Circle

NSNS NN NN NN NN NN AT A A A A s

‘N BN BN EEN XN BN BN N N S

Royal Exchange

Page 21



Appendix 2 — Installed signage at City of London Sites

City of London Information Centre

GUILDHALL
North Wing

TOILETS

Page 22



Appendix 3 — Installed signage at City of London

Car Parks

Page 23




Appendix 4 — Community Toilet Scheme Provision
' | = N

Assenhiem 56 Great Tower Street
Assenhiem 56 Queen Victoria
Assenhiem 56 Fish Street Hill
Astronomer

Barcelona Tapas Bar & Restaurant
Bishops Finger

Britannia

Butchers Hook & Cleaver

Chi Noodle Bar

Crutched Friar

East India Arms

Farringdon Tap

Hamilton Hall

Host Cafe

K10 Japanese Modern Cuisine
K10 Queens Head Passage
Kurumaya

La Piazzetta

Lamb and Trotter

Manoj Coffee and Cuts

Manoj Men's Grooming
Masons Arms

Nando's One New Change

Nando's Middlesex Street
Natural Kitchen

Pavilion End

Punch Tavern

Rudds

Saint Botolph's Without Aldersgate
Shaw Booksellers

Slug & Lettuce

St Mary at Hill

Steel Yard

Tempio Bar & Restaurant
The Banker

The Bell

The Cock and Woolpack
The Cockpit

The Conductor

The Counting House

The Craft Beer Co.

The Crosse Keys

The Duke of Somerset
The Fenchurch Arms
The Glean Restaurant
The Hydrant

Page 24

-
shoreditch
High Street

The Liberty Bounds
The Lion Houndsditch
The Lord Raglan

The Monument

The Old Doctor Butlers Head
The Old Red Cow

The Portsoken Pavilion
The Railway Tavern
The Red Lion

The Rising Sun

The Saint Bow Lane
The Sea Horse

The Shakespeare

The Swan Tavern

The Telegraph

The Three Tuns

The Tokenhouse

The Viaduct Tavern
The Vintry

The Windsor

Wood Street Bar & Restaurant
Ye Olde Cock Tavern
Ye Olde London



All toilets open 9am 6pm | -
\))/%I /\)\)D\/ ’ ’“/‘6/7 %-1:6"/%} I Erv-/‘_\_)m ltch.l'i{gh Street _H!_‘

London Colle eo'CommumcatlonfC?mral A S - &
N\ Maﬁnsgcoueg'e of Art'and;Design A== "/>/|‘ Worshlp Stree(— b % Qul apes i!/'“" =

vV
] "ET) London Moorga(e ...’:1 | ‘
. Peesveer L

ez
ao”

v

& 2 , ‘ "‘_,, \C \[\ ] =i
‘ 5= 7 = ?S,’ /5 ] : Splta“l
A 1 8 Q/\, ) can A ‘. Pet§_§!‘ 4
\ : WS N $  Cityof London 3 = i I D hnstChurch cm
S % \/'%e : : // 3 Schozlorl;lrls) 3 § ? () & ! UU England Primary,
 \ -% ! . 2 3 Livé®bool i -
) £
. v

He StBarthol
N <’£‘~/°Ho:;,::?.
3 e, ' i

2 L S

2

P
)l‘

N Aldgate

5 Ci |
¥ A -eadenhal(;sy
\ ‘] City ) eet-.é \ Wl //
A = R AET! bod : 1 Engl Marn
- \ ﬂ A\F}l"ham link-¢ (:!L,_ : & S \\g\,‘\ \ q Cathoc Prin
200! ‘\ \ Tudar Street ‘ 1 / s P o ’ =
\ \ \ Ut f'w eev‘rctona Street Mansiw AU L ee % > \_‘ o]
. London | £ N U ,Cltyol = House UD 3  |pE ﬁ b ]
mpus-e Blackfriar London School T = e = ®, /! T - - & 3 ] 2
Temple !a ' = S-S oanng iee Mon| enz7 g g - 5
) L] | R Tower? v
L & A321 7
T ——— g ( 4]20
e S——————Bankside Pier 3 / ;'2 o — ,\j‘
= / West

7 SHAE T g Dock
= { TS - § Millgfhnium Piér— B
‘°°.~ G gﬂ \‘N London Bridge Clty Pier =St K"fﬁ
43) = 3
%, \ [—'"‘%— 35 London Bndgc Sl‘atharlm Pie

1
\“’Q . Londn Nautical ? -
/ u® School\ 1| D/\ﬁ xHospital "~ 7, - =

All toilets open 6pm —
11pm

SIS

London College of Commumcauon/Central
St Martins\Collége of Art'and;Design

__H_ll!\?m =

Shoredltch High Street _

m
Quaker. Street ==t
19/

Eolgato:sg,e :E
s‘pitalﬁ'
e

hns! Church Ch\

City of London
England Primary. ‘

Schovl vor Glrls» ]

\

L

\mﬁ

A
\// g

\ o e
3\235)3‘)\
/
\»,
’;O
_c‘n
NP

.VI U
j=5
<3

€
o

"iol[,o <) msanholomew
4
=

Lo, / ) i /75

¢ h@
B A4,
AT Ny o A
\\ fleet Street ,Q\I {s/y‘oﬁuu o Aldgafe Z
ht : W’\ L\\’Tham Imk ; Q "7 % o ‘\ A En'éh _M?t
v Il ’ SN I ok e
200 O Tudor Street .r/ r—g/% /7/ E
v N lct(}na Soeet= "‘"‘W‘JU [ DA —
:&Dnd)w - i Bl ckfrar L°"/dc‘;'?::"°°| = :‘ ) ?.i‘ 2
puUs S / - P
/ - 2 -t A
pstemple g _.? Tower, M1 b
. = .‘ ‘ fboﬁ
& [west
= S f Dock

= = T ide Pier T =
] Al ~o g e
S i W= -s Miligfinium Pier— |5
(,‘o\‘ | G ﬁg W London Bndgecny Pier = _‘AS_r.Ka“’
B> 7@ 3? London Bndge S Sl‘a(hanne Pié)

£

-£*

Yg X LondonNauncal Go, O s
| P—r o

\///n’ I// il 5L

< == 7 = River Thames

Page 25



All toilets open 11pm — 2am

NG BN G S R
Qﬁ N A ‘ V & | shoreditch High Street "_5:

London College of Communication/Central Az 5 i ;
Stiaftine ollége of Art'and;Design \ i N _g:S;reet—' . % lak":f_'/

l"l
'
L]

¥ - K - fl};dm : N\ v / :t:n tChurch Cht
T A\ 31 for Giflss 5 /& 2NN Y o 1Y) England Primary !
. N\ : S(hoZHOfGIHQ ,§\\ /: &/ o = i

} ‘g)é@ o [ e N ) Mool S\

G S
"'dl,;_ Sy > =
;,-/3 A90 rﬂ\'ﬁll//, n@"i

iy ' Gity~oﬂ@/r?a;ﬁ;]

,tead,e,nhau‘sxrelé

-y o

IL

SR & s , :
¥ ity 7611 f ornh
= ' \F}‘hme';lfn!ﬁarg _____ = E o [ <Bank L \ %ﬁ@é CE"“E'O ‘;‘:ﬁ':
,né\ AN = TudoLc:I'Street ' ?::_:"l':. 5 5 1‘6\(‘\\‘\\‘(‘ Q
§E°“§ — 4 iy ‘::15 z W\ = Khy
mpus-e B ¥ ‘
= i ALY, o
S ower, M

o
e, ‘D‘

- ’ 2 425

s ‘m&nuMe,ﬂer 5 034

m—= L s .

- i =5 ; f = ; West

N 5 gg :v DOC&

e o)

3 e { ]_1 i Z%E : e Miligfinturn PiEr
(O3 C 7 VoL e flLondon Bridge City Pier TStKary
% \“’Vd:"?- Londdn Nautical 0‘)00 — 579 ?D ~ St Katharine Pies
%}vl 00N =% &S |

London Brid,
Perospital - -

2
S
a
< River Thames

Page 26



Appendix 5 - Recent schemes resolved to grant from
Planning Application Sub Committee

All major applications are required to produce an Inclusive Toilet Strategy including
details of the fit out of the Changing Places facilities, wheelchair accessible,
ambulant accessible and larger toilets, single sex toilets and baby changing facilities
to comply with Local Plan policy DM 10.8 and London Plan policy D5. In addition, a

comprehensive Access Management Plan is required which will outline toilet
locations, layout, signage, opening hours, access to keys maintenance and

management.
Site Date Public Toilet provision Expected
approved completion
date
Hill House Approved Changing Places toilet, open during End 2032
23/01102/FULMAJ March 2025 library opening hours.
1 Undershaft Validated General toilet provision (non-public) will | 2035
23/01423/FULEIA January 2024 | include a range of single sex, ‘universal’
Under toilet facilities, changing places toilets,
consideration | \wheelchair accessible and accessible
toilet and separate baby changing
facilities. Animal spend areas will also
be included.
The 2023 revised scheme states there
will be a public changing places toilet
provided on the ground floor alongside a
wheelchair accessible toilet accessed
from Undershaft Square. A publicly
accessible toilet is also proposed to the
rear of the office reception before the
security line.
63 St. Mary Axe Validated Basement Level 1 — Changing Places 2032
25/00223/FULEIA March 2025 toilet.
Under External accessible toilet at street level
consideration | in ‘Camomile Park.’
Will consider provision of Spend Areas
for assistance animals.
99 Bishopsgate Validated Sept | Ground floor -two unisex accessible 2031
24/00836/FULEIA 2024 toilets, accessible baby changing facility
Under and Changing Places toilet as well as an
consideration | accessible toilet in the open ‘market’
area at the base of the building.
70 Gracechurch St Validated Basement level 1 — wheelchair 2032
24/00825/FULEIA August 2025 accessible toilet.
Under Public viewing gallery Level 32 —
consideration | wheelchair accessible toilet.

Page 27




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



Agenda Iltem 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 10

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Public Convenience Provision
	Public Toilet Provision APPENDICES October PHES

	9 Non-Public Minutes
	10 Port Health and Environmental Services Debtors - Period Ending 30 June 2025
	1st Qtr Debtors Report 25-26 Port Health Committee - Appendix 1
	1st Qtr Debtors Report 25-26 Port Health Committee - Appendix 2
	1st Qtr Debtors Report 25-26 Port Health Committee - Appendix 3

	11 Superintendent’s House, Cemetery & Crematorium
	Appendix 1- Red Line Site Plan
	FINAL Appendix 2 - Initial Options Analysis Feasibility Superintendents House (not in order of priority) 24092025
	FINAL Appendix 3 Summary of Superintendents House Property Options 1 to 4 & Assumption 24092025
	Appendix 4, Option 1-3 Site Plans 43919-LO 01 (003)
	Appendix 5, Option 5 Site Plan 43919-LO 02 (003)
	FINAL Appendix 6 - Legal Implications 24092025


